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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

NORMAN DEUTSCH, CaseNo. 19-cv-01388-YGR

Plaintiff,
ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO REMAND

Re: Dkt. No. 12

VS.

FORD MOTOR COMPANY, ET AL.,

Defendants

Plaintiff Norman Deutsch brings thistamn against defendants Ford Motor Company
(“Ford”), Henry Curtis Ford (“Curtis”), and Dodsthrough 10 for violations of the Song-Beverly
Consumer Warranty Act, Cal. Civ. Code 8§ 1780seq(“Song-Beverly Act”), also known as
California’s “Lemon Law,” and for fraud relatéd defects developed by a Ford vehicle he
purchased from defendants. (Dkt. No. 1-1 at EAB 3*Compl.”).) Plaintiff originally filed his
complaint in the California Superi@ourt, County of Santa Clarald() Defendants later
removed the action to this Codrt(Dkt. No. 1 (“‘Removal”).)

Now before the Court is gintiff's motion to remand. (Dkt. No. 12 (“Remand”).) Having
carefully considered the pleadings and the mapebmitted, and for the reasons set forth more

fully below, the Court hereb@RANTS plaintiff’'s motion to remand.

! Defendants attached as Exhibit B to timgitice of removal excerpts from Ford’s 2017
Form 10-K filing and note in their notice of rembWaat the “Court can take judicial notice” of
the facts contained thereinSgeRemoval { 19; Ex. B.) These reds have been filed with the
Securities and Exchange Conssipn. Accordingly, the Cou@rRANTS defendants’ requesSee
Lee v. City of L.A.250 F.3d 668, 688-89 (9th Cir. 2001) (ngti‘a court may take judicial notice
of matters of public record” and documents wtesuthenticity . . . imot contested” and upon
which a plaintiff's complaint relies) (internal quotation marks omitted) (alterations in original).

2 The Court has reviewed tpapers submitted by the partiesonnection with plaintiff's
motion to remand. The Court has determinedtti@motion is appropriate for decision without
oral argument, as permitted by Civil Local Ruld(b) and Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 78.
See also Lake at Las Vegas Investors Group, Inc. v. Pacific Malibu Dev, @38(d-.2d 724, 729
(9th Cir. 1991). Acordingly, the CourY AcATESthe hearing scheduled for May 21, 2019.

3 Accordingly the CourVACATES the initial case management conference currently
scheduled for Monday, May 13, 2019 and, therefdresATESASM OOT plaintiff's motion to
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BACKGROUND
A. Factual Background

Plaintiff alleges as follows:

Plaintiff is a resident of &oma County, California. (Compl. § 2.) Defendant Ford is a
corporation organized under theviaof the State of Delawafe(ld.  19.) Defendant Curtis is a
business entity organized under the lafvthe State of California.ld. 1 5.) To the extent that
any statutes of limitation apply @aintiff's claim, “the runnmng of the limitation periods have
been tolled by equitable tolling, class action tolling (A&merican Pipeule), the discovery rule,
fraudulent concealment rule, equitable estopgmpljtable tolling and/or repair rule.Id( 1 7.)

On January 26, 2013, plaintiff purchased a 20118l Escape vehicle identification numbey
1FMCUOGXXDUC36296 (the “Vehicle”), which ved'manufactured and or distributed” by
defendants. I€. 1 8.) In connection witthis purchase, plaintifieceived an express written
warranty, including “a 3-year/36,000 miles esgs bumper to bumper warranty” and “a 5-
year/60,000 mile powertrain warranty,” whicbvers the engine and transmissiold. { 9.)
Defendants “undertook to preserve or maintainutiiey or performance of the Vehicle or to
provide compensation if there idalure in utility or performancéor a specified period of time.
The warranty provided, in relevapdrt, that in the event a @eft developed with the Vehicle
during the warranty period, [p]laintiff could deliver the Vehicle fqraie services to [d]efendants’
representative and the Velaalvould be repaired.”ld.) During the warranty period, the Vehicle
contained or developed a numbedefects that substantially impair the use, value, or safety of
the Vehicle. $eed. 1 10.) As a result, plaintiff sufferethmages “in an amount that is not less
than $25,001.00.”14. 7 11.)

Based upon these allegations, plaintiff asssrt€auses of action: (Count 1) failure to

appear by telephone at that conference.

4 The Court notes that Ford maintaitssprincipal place of business in Dearborn,
Michigan. (Removal, Ex. B.)
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promptly replace or make restitution as required by Civil Code Sections 1793.2(d) and 1793.
(id. 1111 12-17); (Count 2) failure to commencevgse or repairs withira reasonable time in
violation of Section 1793.2(b)d. 11 18-22); (Count 3) failure to make available authorized
service and repair facilities, sufficient serviterature, and replacement parts during the expres
warranty period in violation of Section 1793.2(a)(@) {1 23-25); (Count 4) flare to repair the
Vehicle in violationof Section 1791.2(a)d. 11 26-29); (Count 5) failure to comply with the
implied warranty of merchantabiliin violation of Section 1791.1(aid( 11 30-34); and (Count 6)
fraud by omissionid. 11 34-50). As part of Counts 1 dugh 4, plaintiff sought “a civil penalty
of two times” plaintiff's actual dangges pursuant to Section 1794(eld. {1 16, 22, 25, 29.)

Plaintiff asserts Counts 1 througladd 6 against defendant Fordd. @t 3-5; 7.) Only
Count 5 is raised against all defendants, including Cutlis.a(6.) With respect to Count 5,
plaintiff alleges as follows:

Pursuant to Section 1792, “the saldled Vehicle was accompanied by [defendants’]
implied warranty of merchantability.” “Pursuaio [Section] 1791.1, the duration of the implied
warranty is coextensive in durati with the duration of the exm® written warranty provided by
[defendants], except that the duoatis not to exceed one-yearid.(f 31.) At the time of
purchase, or within one year thereafter, the Mehtontained or developed defects, the existenc
of which constitutes a breacdi the implied warranty. Iq. § 33.)

B. Procedural History

Plaintiff filed his initial complaint in the Gidornia Superior CourtCounty of Santa Clara
on February 1, 2019. (Compl.) On FebruaryZ¥,9 defendants Ford and Curtis both answere
plaintiff's complaint. SeeDkt. No. 1-1 at ECF 17-28 (“Ford Answer”); ECF 29-40 (“Curtis
Answer”).)

Shortly thereafter, on March 14, 2019, defengdaamoved the action to this Court under
28 U.S.C. § 1441 on the grounds that diversityslidgtion exists pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332.

(Removal at 1.) Defendants aver that the amouooirtroversy, exclusive afterest and costs,

5 Unless otherwise noted, section refeemnare to the California Civil Code.

3

1(a)

D

[®X




United States District Court
Northern District of Califorra

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
o ~N o U~ W N P O © 0 N O U~ W N B O

exceeds $75,000 and that complete diversity of citizenship exigt[f(10-35.) Specifically,
defendants contend that co-dedant Curtis, although a resideritCalifornia, was fraudulently
joined named only to defeat a claim of diversity and removal to federal ctirf(f 20-33.) In
the alternative, defendants argue that Curts‘ispensable party” ued Rule 21 and therefore
may be severed from the actiond.{{ 34-35.)
. LEGAL STANDARD

“Federal courts are courts lited jurisdiction. They posss only that power authorized
by Constitution and statute[.]JKokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of ALl U.S. 375, 377
(1994). The removal statuteeagenerally construed restrictively, so as to limit removal
jurisdiction. Shamrock Oil & Gas Corp. v. Shee?d3 U.S. 100, 108-109 (1941Accordingly,
there is a “strong presumption against remouvasgliction” when evaluating a motion to remand.
Gaus v. Miles, In¢.980 F.2d 564, 566 (9th Cir. 1992). H& burden of establishing federal
jurisdiction is upon the party seeking removéatmnrich v. Touche Ross & C&46 F.2d 1190,
1195 (9th Cir. 1988). Doubts as to removability generally resolved in favor of remanding the
case to state courGee Matheson v. ProgregsiSpecialty Ins. Co319 F.3d 1089, 1090 (9th Cir.
2003).

[11.  ANALYSIS

As a preliminary matter, the Court finds thatiptiff's complaint, on its face, alleges that
plaintiff is a citizen of Califorra (Compl. § 2 (“Plaintiff is a redent of . . . California.”)) and
places in controversy an amount that exceeds $75@0M(11, 16 (alleging that plaintiff
“suffered [actual] damages . . . in an amouat th not less than $25,001.0érid seeking “a civil
penalty of two times [plaintiff's] actualamages” pursuant to Section 1794fe)).

Thus, the only remaining issue preserigglaintiff’s motion iswhether plaintiff
fraudulently joined defendant Cigt “There are two ways totablish fraudulent joinder: ‘(1)

actual fraud in the pleading of jadictional facts, or (2) inability of the plaintiff to establish a

® See Romo v. FFG Ins. G897 F.Supp.2d 1237, 1240 (C.D. Cal. 2005) (finding that a
court may include civil penalties potentiatlycoverable under Cabifnia’'s Song-Beverly
Consumer Warranty Act in calculating the amount in controversy.

4
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cause of action against a non-dse party in state court.’"Grancare, LLC V. Thrower ex rel.
Mills, 889 F.3d 543, 548 (9th Cir. 2018) (internal citations omitted). “Fraudulent joinder is
established the second way if a defendant shoatsath‘individual[] joined in the action cannot
be liable on any theory.”Id. (citation omitted). To so establish, removing parties must show *
‘obvious’ failure to state a claimdgainst the allegedly fraudul@njoined party or partiesld. at
549;see also McCabe v. General Foods Cp#il F.2d 1336, 1339 (9th Cir. 1987) (“If a plaintift
fails to state a cause of actioraatgst a resident defendant, and thilure is obvious according to
the settled rules of the state, the joindethefresident defendaist fraudulent.”).

The only claim asserted by plaintiff againstrtuis one for the breach of the implied
warranty of merchantability in @lation of the Song-Beverly Act. Defendants contend that this
claim obviously fails for two reasons: (i) becatise “only express warranty alleged in the
Complaint is the express warranty provided by Fordthe implied warranty at issue is Ford’s
implied warranty that arose when the [Vehicle] was sold new [and plaintiff] does not allege a
breach of any implied warranty that might. have arisen in connection withJrtis’s| sale of
the” Vehicle (Compl. 1 24); and (ii) plaintiff's iptied warranty claim against Curtis is barred by
the statute of limitations and no tolling doctrine applidsy 31). Additionally, and in the
alternative, defendants contend t@airtis is a “dispensable pgitunder Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 21 and therefore may be severed from the aclibr. 34.)

First, the Court is unpersuaded by defendaarigument that beoaae plaintiff has not
alleged an express warranty against Curtis,nhoaallege an implied warranty against Curtis.
Numerous courts have found implied warrantyrolagainst dealerships to be valid, and the
dealerships to be necessary parties, in coimmeaiith claims under the Song-Beverly Act, even
when there is no express warranty as betwthe plaintiff and the dealershifee, e.gWatson v.
Ford Motor CompanyNo. 18-cv-00928-SlI, 2018 WL 3869563 *dt (N.D. Cal. Aug. 15, 2018);
Blowers v. Ford Motor Companio. CV 17-8224- JFW (KSx), 2018 WL 654415, at * 5 (C.D.
Cal. Jan. 31, 2018g8andhu v. Volvo Cars of N. Am., LUdo. 16-CV-04987-BLF, 2017 WL
403495, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 31, 2017).

Second, the Court finds some ambiguity awiether plaintiff's implied warranty claim is
5
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“obviously” barred due to the statute of illimitat&anUnder the Song-Beverly Act, the implied
warranty of merchantability extends for a perafane year after delivery, and the time for
bringing an action is fowears from the breachMexia v. Rinker Boat Cp174 Cal.App.4th
1297, 1308-1309 (20099ee also Audo v. Ford Motor Compaio. 18-cv-00320-L-KSC, 2018
WL 3323244, at *2 (S.D. Cal. July 6, 2018) (citidgiser Cement & Gypsum Corp. v. Allis-
Chalmers Mfg. C0.35 Cal.App.3d 948, 960 (1973)). Here, thereo dispute that plaintiff filed
his complaint on February 1, 2019, more thaur fyears after the 2018nder of delivery.
However, “[t]here is nothing [in the Song-BeweAct] that suggests requirement that the
purchaser discover and report to the sellatent defect within that time period.Daniel v. Ford
Motor Co, 806 F.3d 1217, 1223 (9th Cir. 2015) (quotivigxia 174 Cal.App.4th at 1222)
(holding that the Ninth @cuit must adhere to the court’s decisioMaxiadespite its “mixed
treatment” by California f@eral district courts).Therefore, a claim for breach of the implied
warranty of merchantability may be based upon a defect not discoverable at the time $¢gale
Ehrlich v. BMW of N. Am., LLB01 F.Supp.2d 908, 922 (C.D. Cal. 2010) (cititexia) (finding
the “statute of limitations for Plaintiff's breadf implied warranty claim thus began running in
March 2008, when he first discovered that BMWuld not repair his defective windshield8ge
also Keegan v. Am. Honda Motor C838 F.Supp.2d 929, 948 (C.D. Cal. 2012) (failure to
discover a defect within the otyear durational period for an ptied warranty under Cal. Civil
Code 1791.1 does not bar aioh on its face).

On the face of the complaint, plaintiff alleges at least eighteen defects. (Compl. § 10.
Although plaintiff does not providany specific allegations regand when he learned of the
defects, he does allege that the Vehicle carthor developed theseféets at the time of
purchase or within one year thereaftdd. {| 27.) Therefore, it is posde that one or more of the
defects alleged in the complaint were latermature, not discoverable until well after the term of
the implied warranty and providing pteiff four years form the date of discovery of the defect tg
bring the action.

However, the Court need not decide wheftiamtiff has successfully stated a claim for

violation of the implied warranty of merchantéyiagainst Curtis. A mere showing that an
6
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action is likely to be dismissed against atipalar defendant doesot demonstrate fraudulent
joinder of that defendanDiaz v. Allstate Ins. Groyd 85 F.R.D. 582, 586 (S.D. Cal. 1998).
Moreover, “[ijn determining whether a defendantvj@ined fraudulentlythe court resolves all
disputed questions of fact and all ambiguitrethe controlling state law in favor of the non-
removing party.”Liberman v. Meshkin, Mazandaramo. C-96-3344 Sl, 1996 WL 732506, at *2|
(N.D. Cal. Dec. 11, 1996). Therefore, because plam&Eybe able to state a claim against Curti$
for violation of the implied warranty of merahability, the Court finds that defendants have
failed to meet their burden to show that Cwies fraudulently joined. Accordingly, complete
diversity, as required for divetg jurisdiction, does not exist.
V.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the COBRANTS plaintiff’'s motion toremand. Clerk of the
Court to remand this action to Sar@lara County Superior Court.

This Order terminates Docket Numbers 12, 19.

T 1SS0 ORDERED.

Dated: May 10, 2019

Y VONNE GOKZALE
ITED STATESDISTRICT COURT JUDGE

” The Court finds defendants’ argument tBattis, the dealership from which plaintiff
allegedly purchased the Vehicleisgue in this lawsuit, is a “dispensable party” unpersuasive.
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